U.S. copyright law (title 17 of U.S. code) governs the reproduction and redistribution of copyrighted material. The copyright owner retains all rights to this work.

THE HOLDING COMPANY CONCEPT

APPLIED TO

MULTIPLE AUTOMOBILE DEALERSHIPS

bу

HENRY GUYNN GUNN, B.A.

PROFESSIONAL REPORT

Prepared for B.A. 398 under the Supervision of Professor Kenneth W. Olm in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

MASTER OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT AUSTIN Graduate School of Business

December 1976

TABLE OF CONTENTS

				Page
Introduction				1
Use of the Holding Company Concept			•	3
Benefits of the Corporate Dealership Form	,			7
Financial Consideration	,			19
Organization				33
Strategy	,			37
Planning	,			41
Overall Management				43
Evaluation				44
Central Services and Function				45
Innovation and Research				46
Marketing		•		47
Inventory Control				49
Financing		•	•	50
Captive Finance Company		•	•	51
Personnel	,	•	•	54
Computer Use	•	•	•	56
-			•	58
Acquisition and Expansion The Existing Dealershi	۲Þ		•	62
The New Dealership	•	•	•	
Integration	•	•	•	64
Conclusion	•	•	•	65 66
APPENDICES	•	•	•	75
BIBLIOGRAPHY	•	•	•	7

THE HOLDING COMPANY CONCEPT APPLIED TO

MULTIPLE AUTOMOBILE DEALERSHIPS

Introduction

Ownership and operation of more than one automobile dealership and the resulting possible financial rewards have been made difficult to attain in recent This difficulty has been especially harmful to those dealers in areas of population which are considerably less dense than the metropolitan areas. These smaller dealers cannot amass the large sales and profit potential available to the dealers in the metropolitan areas. It can then be to their benefit to develop some arrangement in which they can circumvent the problems and obstacles which have arisen to block a multiple dealership operation. This report will deal with these problems and suggest a possible solution to them. The situation dealt with will be limited to a small business application. It will be pointed toward the ownership of several dealerships which would not be located in metropolitan areas. Further it will be limited to General

Motors Corporation dealerships although it could be applied to others. The problems which will be covered include those requirements and regulations imposed by General Motors and those problems which particularly affect the small business entity.

General Motors has several requirements, regulations, and restrictions which make multiple dealership ownership difficult. Among the more important are the following. First, it is required that one man be held responsible for each dealership. General Motors wants to be able to know which person it can contact who can make the operation decisions for the dealership and who can be responsible for the dealerships actions. It will not allow a corporation to be a dealer; in other words, the "dealer" must be a "real" person. Next, the dealer owner must own at least 50 percent of the stock of the dealership. Further, it is required that any sales of stock exceeding the sale of the first 25 percent be approved by General Motors. Third, it is required that the owner acquire all of the stock within a specified period (generally five years) of the date of the obtaining the franchise. He can then sell the stock back to financial participants. The problems of operating a successful small business can be overwhelming if not recognized and combatted. Those problems which relate to the type of business situation which the ownership of several small dealerships are dealt with. These include financial, strategy, planning, management, evaluation, and other problems. By attempting to solve these problems the small business can avoid its biggest stumbling block, cash insufficiency, and grow successfully.

also discussed in an effort to verify the selection. By reaching this solution, it is hoped that a successful multiple dealership operation of this nature could actually be accomplished by tailoring the solution reached to the specific situation, an individual should be able to obtain adequate financial rewards which have heretofore been difficult to attain.

Use of the Holding Company Concept

Due to the constraints resulting from General Motors regulations, some ingenuity must be used in order to establish a multiple dealership operation. Before

becoming involved in any solution to the problems presented, an understanding of the General Motors franchise agreement terminology must be attained. The terms of particular significance are "dealer owner" and "dealer operator." When the major financial participant is not to be responsible for the daily operations of the dealership, the distinction between the terms becomes critical. The majority financial participant in this case is termed the "dealer owner" while the person responsible for daily operations (the general manager) is termed "dealer operator." A "dealer operator" is required to own at least 25 percent of the dealership's stock to signify his interest in successful operation. The "dealer owner" may also be a "dealer operator" as there may be more than one named. This can occur if the dealer feels that it is to his advantage to take this capacity. general, it is beneficial to be a "dealer operator" in addition to "dealer owner" because of advantages in the naming of a successor dealer. Out of all the possibilities, a holding company effect could most probably be obtained by using a proprietorship as the holding company entity. The dealerships would be operated as separate corporations with the proprietorship owning the

shares of each corporation. The proprietor could then be named as the paragraph three "dealer owner" of the standard franchise agreement. The proprietor would be termed the "dealer owner" as a result of being the majority financial participant and should also be a "dealer operator" as a result of his management responsibilities. A minority stockholder would become a "dealer operator" and be responsible for daily dealership operations. His capacity would be general manager of the dealership. This would satisfy the General Motors requirement that there be one man who would be solely responsible for each dealership and allow the proprietor to have majority ownership in more than one dealership. In effect, this would constitute a holding company without being necessarily defined as one in the contract for the franchises. Since General Motors will not allow a corporation to be a dealer owner, this approach seems the only feasible way resulting from the fact that General Motors contention that in a corporation, they could not hold one person wholly responsible.

The proprietorship, through the proprietor ("dealer owner"), would be required to own at least 50 percent of the stock in each dealership corporation in

order to satisfy a General Motors requirement. It would be probable that he would be required to own 75 percent of the stock, at least originally. This requirement is based on General Motors interest in being able to hold one man responsible for the dealership. By owning 75 percent of the stock the proprietor would not have to be consulted in the disposal of the initial sale of 25 percent of the stock. Again, the General Motors requirement that any sale of stock which would diminish the dealer owner's interest in ownership to less than 75 percent must be approved by General Motors prior to that sale. If further sale of stock is desired, the approval that must be obtained can be attained only by proving that the person buying the stock must be of probable "significant benefit" to the dealership to warrant ownership. The "significant benefit" rule is not completely clear since it involves no precise requirements. only a subjective opinion initially made in the General Motors zone office and subject to review at higher levels in the hierarchy.

Benefits of the Corporate Dealership Form

tained by then using the corporate form for each of the dealerships. Even though the form for the holding company is a proprietorship, almost all business risks lies with the corporate dealerships, thus, there is no business risk involved for the proprietor except for the investment in the shares of the stock of the dealership as would be the case for owning the stock of any corporation. In this instance, however, the proprietor acting as the holding company has controling stock ownership of the corporations and thus can to a greater extent control the value of the stock because of the managerial control than can be exercised over the dealerships.

There are several good reasons why the dealership should be formed as a corporation. These advantages would seem to be greater for this type of operation than those that would accrue to any other form.

The first important benefit is that of limited liability for the shareholders. The shareholders of a corporation cannot be held personally liable for any debts or liabilities of the corporation in excess of their original

investment in the company's shares of stock. If the company were to fail, the only thing the stockholder would lose would be the money he put into the stock. The personal assets of the stockholder are not at risk. In a partnership or proprietorship form, the liabilities of the company in excess of the firm's assets can be satisfied from the nonexempt personal assets of the owners. Thus, failure of the business can mean personal economic disaster unless the businesss is a corporation, and the dealer is careful not to assume personal liability for actions of the corporation.

Another important consideration is that of the benefit of the tax structure of corporate rates. For successful businesses, the corporate rates can be of benefit to the reinvestment of income within the business. The corporate tax rates are 22 percent on income of \$50,000 or less and 48 percent on any income which exceeds \$50,000 (a 26 percent surtax).* Since a person can only reinvest after-tax income, the maximum reinvestment can be attained by shielding the income of the business from the highly personal income tax rates that result for incomes in excess of \$100,000 annually (up to 70 percent marginal rate). If the taxpayer earns an income

^{*}Recent changes in tax laws provide for tax at 20 percent on the first \$25,000, and 22 percent on the next \$25,000 of taxable income.

which is sufficiently high to put him in a tax bracket which exceeds 48 percent, the corporate form would be beneficial. If the taxpayer is in either category his after-tax dollars available for reinvestment will be diminished more by the higher personal rates than by the corporate rates. Savings are available even for relatively modest incomes. The personal tax rate of 22 percent on a single taxpayer occurs at \$6,000 taxable income while he is taxed at a 48 percent on taxable income at \$32,000. For a married person filing jointly the appropriate incomes are \$8,000 and \$44,000.

The owner must be careful to avoid the Accumulated Earnings tax which applies to all unreasonable accumulations of earnings in a corporation (generally those
in excess of a \$100,000 exemption). The tax is assessed
unless there is a need for and a plan for using the accumulations for business improvement or expansion.

A further benefit of a closely-held corporation is the ability of the owner to also be an employee. Being an employee allows the owner several benefits. First, he can pay himself a salary and by doing this he can effectively avoid the "double tax" which occurs in the case of corporate dividends paid to shareholders in lieu of salaries. Dividends are not deductible to the

corporation and are thus paid from after-tax dollars by the corporation and are taxable to the shareholder. Reasonable salaries are deductible expenses to the corporation. Accordingly, only the individual is taxed when he receives the salary. The owner/employee must be careful here to avoid any conflict with the "reasonable salary" rule. The salary must be in line with salaries of persons with similar jobs and responsibilities. If salaries paid are more than reasonable the excess may be considered as dividends paid to the owner.

In concurrence with the benefit of the owner being a salaried employee is the maximum federal tax on earned income. This maximum tax occurs only on income which is earned from performing a service. The limit is a tax rate of 50 percent. Thus, the owner/employee can pay himself a large salary from each corporation and be taxed at a maximum 50 percent marginal rate while the salaries are a deduction to the corporations. The taxpayer has no unearned income which would not be true if instead of a salary, dividends were paid to him by the

Pay Sommerfeld, Federal Taxes and Management Decisions (Homewood, Ill.: Richard D. Irwin, Inc., 1974), p. 64.

corporation. If the business is not a corporation, the taxpayer's income will not be a salary but will be a draw on the income of the entity and thus will probably contain a portion of unearned income. This is due to the fact that the taxable income of most businesses is jointly attributable to the presence of both service and capital. The IRS has arbitrarily decided that when this situation occurs, no more than 30 percent of the taxable income can be considered earned income, the remainder is considered "unearned." Thus, the maximum tax rate of 50 percent on "earned" income is available on 70 percent of it.2 In addition, the maximum tax on earned income will allow the owner/employee to have the flexibility of reinvesting the income at maximum tax rate of 48 percent (corporate tax rate) or withdrawing it immediately at a maximum tax of 50 percent.

Fringe benefits of these corporations could also be enjoyed by the proprietor of the holding company. These benefits are available to the employees of corporations to a greater extent than to other business entities. Since the proprietor is also an employee of the

²Ibid.

corporations, he will be eligible to take advantage of the benefits. The benefits range from those which are both immediately tax deductible to the firm and not taxable to the individual to those which are deductible to the firm but taxable to the employee. These fringe benefits can be molded into an attractive compensation package. All benefits are paid for by pretax dollars.

Group-term life insurance properly provided for employees is immediately deductible to the corporation and never taxable to the employee. Various limitations are imposed upon these policies. All premium payments on policies up to \$50,000 are qualified as tax deductible. Further, premiums for policies up to \$2,000 for employees' children are qualified. Another regulation concerns the number and type of employees covered. If the plan covers ten or more people, then certain groups of the firm can be covered. But if less than 10 fulltime employees are covered, there can be no discrimination between employees and owner/employees. Since automobile dealerships are the corporations being discussed, it is probable that any group covered would be less than ten. Thus, all employees should be covered. This would be true unless a group such as salesmen was large enough and was determined to be worthy.

Death benefits are also immediately deductible to the corporation and never taxable to the employee. These allow tax-free benefits to be paid to the employee's beneficiary up to \$5,000. Meals and lodging can also be benefits of this group. If provided on the firm's property for a corporate purpose, the costs are deductible to the corporation and can be excluded from the employee's income. Further fringe benefits include certain travel and entertainment expenses. Needless to say, when conditions are favorable, expenditures for personal pleasure can also be considered as business expenses, qualifying as tax deductible expenses. Expenditures for autos and airplans, and other benefits such as interest-free loans and merchandise discounts may also be available as perquisites of the owners. As long as the employee pays for any personal use of the autos and planes, there is no compensation to him. The loans may be made available to shareholders and officers. There need be no interest charge, and as long as the transaction retains debt characteristics, there is no compensation involved. Discounts to employees are not generally taxable to the employee if reasonably small and if they are available to all employees.

Qualified pension plans, profit sharing plans, and stock bonus plans are in a group of benefits which are immediately deductible to the corporation and tax deferred (possibly to be taxed as long-term capital gains). H.R. 10-plans and I.R.A. plans are also in this category. The mechanics and limitations of the qualified pension plans are quite complex yet the tax benefits can be worthwhile. However, because of the complexities many firms choose to use nonqualified plans which can be tailored more to their specific needs. The nonqualified plans are deferred deductions to the corporation and deferred taxation to the employees. Qualified profit-sharing plans allow an employer to put a percentage of profits into a trust for employees which will be distributed after a period of time. In the stock option plan, stock is distributed to employees according to a plan which is nondiscriminatory.

The next group of compensation benefits which are deductible to the corporation but immediately taxable to the employees include salary and bonuses, non-qualified stock options, rentals, and interest. The nonqualified stock option plans are taxed to the employee at ordinary rates on the difference between fair market

value at the time of grant or exercise and the option price.

A final group of benefits can be classified as deferred both as a deduction to the corporation and as taxable income to the employee. The deferred taxation to the employee is beneficial only if the effective tax rate is considerably lower when the benefits are re-This class of ceived than when the benefits were earned. deferred benefits includes unfunded pension plans and deferred compensation arrangements. Unfunded pension plans' benefits are taxable to the employee when constructively or actually received and are deductible to the corporation at this same time. Ordinary rates apply to the amounts received. The deferred compensation plans essentially involve an employer's promise to make continued payments to a particular employee following his These would be additional payments for serretirement. vices the employee has already rendered. The deduction to the corporation and the taxation to the employee both occur when payment is made.

All other compensation is considered never deductible to the corporation and taxed immediately to the taxpayer. These include dividends, redemption of stock

as a dividend, gain on the redemption of debt, constructive distributions, and qualified stock option plans.

They offer no particular advantage to either the employee or the corporation.

The corporation can take advantage of a type of no cost "insurance" for the corporation itself. involves Section 1244 of the Internal Revenue Code. Available to corporations selecting this option, this section can be of significant value to shareholders who sustain losses. Ordinarily when stock becomes worthless the result is a pure capital loss and is subject to the limitations of all net capital losses. Stock qualified under Section 1244 allows the original purchaser of the shares who experiences the loss to deduct up to \$50,000 of the loss as an ordinary loss in a single year. an individual is in a high tax bracket, Section 1244 can make risky investments easier to bear because the IRS is willing to permit the write-off against ordinary income, thus resulting in tax savings. Yet, the gains which may accure will be taxed at the more advantageous capital gains rates. Even if the shareholders might not expect to sustain losses, Section 1244 should be taken advantage of because the benefits outweigh any

complexities of qualification of the stock. The requirements are as follows: (1) the shares must be common stock; (2) the corporation must adopt a plan to issue such stock, and the stock must be issued within two years after the date the plan was adopted; (3) the corporation must be domestic and meet two small business requirements; (4) the money plus the net tax basis of any other property received for the stock must be less than or equal to \$500,000; (5) total equity capital cannot exceed \$1,000,000; (6) at the time the plan was adopted, no other offering of stock can be outstanding. There are also the following loss requirements: (1) the taxpayer sustaining the loss must be an individual; (2) only an individual to whom the Section 1244 was originally issued may claim the loss; (3) the loss must be sustained by an operation company. The loss treatment is available when the stock is sold or deemed worthless. These qualifications would present no complications to an existing automobile dealership since new stock can be issued in place of the old. This new stock can easily meet the qualification. If a new dealership is to be established, the original stock can be issued as Section 1244 stock.

Another reason for establishing the dealerships as corporations is that all organization expenses can be amortized over a five year period. For other business entities, these expenses are treated as nondeductible capital expenses. Furthermore getting started expenses are deductible to the corporations as are any preoperating expenses. These should be carefully documented and taken advantage of by the dealerships. Preoperating expenses such as investigation expenses might also be deducted by the holding company. Deductions are available if the expenses are for the broadening of the business.

The holding company proprietor should be worried about the transferability of the stock he owns in the various dealerships whether it be at death, as a gift, or as a sale. Since the proprietor holds shares of stock, whenever he sells the stock he will realize long-term capital gains on its sales. At his death any shares will be passed to his heirs at a stepped-up basis effectively allowing a large part of any capital gain to go untaxed. This is due to the fact that the stock will have as its basis the fair market value at date of death or six months later. The gift tax rules are more complex, but given that there has been an appreciation in

the value of the stock, the donor's basis is used as the new basis. No matter the method of stock disposal, the stock is easily transferable and can be valued in a reasonably easy process. The latter advantage can be very useful since the value of many other types of assets is questionable and will vary according to assessor.

Financial Considerations

The financial arrangements which are made must be both viable financially and acceptable to General Motors. Since the proprietor is going to be the "paragraph 3" dealer as was discussed earlier he will have to put up the major share of the capital investment. In addition, if he intends to own all of the stock and thus have no minority partners, then he must put up all of the capital involved. There still remain restrictions imposed by General Motors.

General Motors has several requirements for the financial structure of a dealership, either newly established or purchased. In addition to whatever amount (if any) of the funds he may have to invest in real estate and facilities for the dealership, a dealer-

operator is normally required to invest at least 25 percent of the proposed and approved owners' equity on an unencumbered basis. This qualification is for working capital only. While this is not a completely arbitrary standard, General Motors desires that the person who is the dealer-operator and who is entrusted with the responsibility for operating a business which could generate millions of dollars in sales annually should have demonstrated his ability to manage his own personal finances by accumulating enough capital to permit a substantial initial investment. By providing this type of personal investment from accumulated savings, the dealer operator reassures General Motors that will make a sincere effort to operate the business successfully. balance of the initially required capital investment can be provided by an approved financial participant. Under circumstances where an existing dealer desires to sell out to an approved applicant, a Buy-Sell agreement can be arranged. Such agreement allows the new dealer to buy the dealership over a period of years on an established contractual basis with either a predetermined price or a formula to determine the price of each block of stock purchased. It is possible to finance a buy

out with long-term notes. The dealer-operator who wishes to establish a dealership in an open area must either supply all of the initial capital outlay or buy out his financial participants within a specified period of years, normally five years but extendable if necessary to several more years. After a dealer accomplishes his buy-out, he may then allow reinvestment by outside participants which can include those whom he has previously bought out. But General Motors does extend a restriction on this type of reinvestment. General Motors must approve of any participant if the dealer wishes to sell more than 25 percent of his investment. Thus, the dealer may dispose of an initial 25 percent of the stock without restriction. But any transaction after this point is passed must meet General Motors approval. manner, General Motors can exercise a degree of control of the independently operated dealership. Approval is made on the basis of the participant being capable of providing a significant benefit to the dealership.

Another requirement concerns the nature of the initial financial participant. Bank loans are not to be considered as this type of participant. This is a restriction which General Motors has because they do

not want any possibility of a bank controlling the dealership or have a bank in the position to own a share of the business due to default on a loan. They feel that just by being a participant in a lending sense that the bank can and will extend a degree of control on the dealership. This restriction can be a hardship on the person wishing to acquire a dealership. When it is difficult to find an approved financial participant, General Motors through the Motors Holding Company may come to the prospective dealer's assistance.

The Motors Holding Company is a division of General Motors. Its objective is to assist in the development of quality General Motors dealers, adequately and independently financed and operated. Financial assistance is extended to those individuals whom General Motors feels have desirable personal qualifications but through circumstances neither possesses nor has access to adequate capital of the right kind to finance a dealership properly. Motors Holding provides a source of capital for these individuals with which they can set up and operate dealerships until the dealerships become financially sound and can pay for themselves. The three

categories of situations which Motors Holding is designed to help are the following: (1) to supplement an individual's capital resources so as to enable him to establish a new dealership, either succeeding an existing dealership or at an open point; (2) to enable an individual to buy out inactive partners so as to more efficiently utilize profits in assuring the long term success of the business; (3) to provide equity capital as a supplement to the franchise investment for the acquisition or construction of modern and efficient facilities and operating capital required to serve an expanding market. When in the process of expanding, Motors Holding should definitely be looked into if access to necessary capital is a problem for the dealer.

Individuals wishing to be able to obtain aid from Motors Holding must meet several requirements. The basic requirements include the following: (1) recommendation by the car division having jurisdiction; (2) demonstration of ability to successfully operate a dealership; (3) satisfactory sales and profit potential of the franchise; (4) ability to make a satisfactory investment, usually not less than 25 percent of the required capital; (5) subscription to the business policies recommended by Motors Holding.

When an investment is agreed upon, the dealeroperator is named president and a director of the newly formed corporation. Motors Holding retains voting stock control during the period in which it is an investorstockholder. By using Motors Holding assistance, a dealer has to give up control of the firm until the loan is paid in full. For this reason it is highly desirable to avoid this kind of situation. But if this is the only way possible to expand and a highly desirable dealership opportunity presents itself, this can at least make an acquisition possible at reasonable financial By all means though, in the type of organization about which this paper is concerned, expansion should generally only be considered when enough capital is available from within the organization. Full control of the new corporations is retained by the organization. Such a policy will also prevent financial and managerial problems which result from spreading the available resources too thinly to allow effective operation. If recourse is made to Motors Holding, profits must be shared. While the dealer receives a salary, a cash bonus provision, and a share of the earnings, he does not have full control of the profits distribution due to the arbitrary arrangement insisted upon by Motors Holding.

It should be emphasized that all of the discussion that has taken place on capital concerns working capital only. The capital to be used for the real estate portion of the investment should be arranged separately. Even though working capital and fixed capital are arranged for separately, both should be financed as much as possible through retained earnings and the personal finances of the owner with the exception of possible financial institution loan arrangements on the real estate finances. In this manner, effective control can be maintained and as a result, the owner can operate each of the businesses at his own discretion. When there are additional financial participants, control is shared. Therefore, in the type of expansion which the holding company undertakes it is advisable to expand only when the finances are available at terms most favorable to the Bank loans may enter the financial structure for real estate, and for additional working capital after the start of operations.

The amount of debt which is to be used in the dealerships can be determined by the holding company.

The proprietor must look at the overall financial picture of the firm by taking all of the dealerships and

looking at them both individually and grouped together.

In this manner, a decision can be made on what is best

for each corporation as well as what shape the holding company is in. The ability of the firm to finance any expansions or to add finances to individual dealerships is determined by the overall picture. It is necessary to review financial structure in this way because by funneling more finances into one of these areas may severaly damage or impede the operations of the other dealerships.

one method of determining the proper debtequity ratio for small businesses has been advanced by
Dr. Ernest Walker, Professor of Finance, The University
of Texas at Austin. The method entails determining the
certainty of the firm's earnings. Larger firms use the
theory which entails the cost of capital as the main criterion of the amount of debt the firm should use. The
Walker method considers the probabilities of earnings before interest and taxes. The amount of earnings before
interest and taxes which earns the same amount on equity
capital no matter what the debt-equity ratio must be calculated. Then the owner must determine the probability

³Ernest Walker, <u>The Dynamic Small Firm</u> (Austin, Texas: Austin Press, 1974), pp. 203-204.

of the firm earning this amount. If he is certain that this amount can be attained then it is safe for the firm to use a great deal of debt. If he is not so sure of making that level of earnings, then he should only consider smaller amounts of debt. In this way, he can decide what risk he desires to undertake by taking on debt which entails making the fixed payments which accompany. The formula for determining this point is the following

$$\frac{x-B}{S_1} = \frac{x}{S_2}$$

where X = the indifference point, S_i = number of common shares or amount of equity capital when only equity is used, S₂ = number of common shares or amount of equity capital when only equity is used, and B = bond interest in dollars. By using the amount of equity capital rather than the number of common shares, one can figure the results for an organization which is not incorporated as the holding company would not be. One would then be using as part of the determining factors earnings to equity rather than earnings per share.

⁴Ibid.

In making the debt/equity decision, he must take under consideration the difficulty of obtaining equity capital and the fact that each dollar of debt to the small firm does not have as much leverage affect on equity as it does in a larger firm. This is a fact because the small firm is burdened with a slightly higher cost of debt capital coupled with a slightly lower return to capital. In taking these factors under consideration, Walker suggests that the small firm accept projects that are free from the risk of insolvency. In this manner, a larger amount of debt can be undertaken. situation results from the firm being better able to determine earnings. The fact which stands out here is that more small firms go under because of lack of cash to meet fixed payments than from any other cause. 5 It is important to the holding company to decide the rate at which to expand and the manner of operating the existing dealerships in light of these known risks.

There can be several different arrangements for financing the real estate and other fixed assets

Donald Dible, <u>Up Your Own Organization</u> (Santa Clara, Calif.: Entrepreneur Press, 1974), p. 177.

of the dealerships. Each dealership corporation could decide to own and thus be forced to finance their real estate and other fixed assets. The burden would be on each individual dealership to be able to obtain the finances. Thus only their individual borrowing power could be used if retained earnings were not available from within the firm. It would be possible for them to be backed up by the proprietor's name and reputation. But for the dealership which is just being originated there are no retained earnings; so all funds would have to be borrowed or come from equity capital.

Another possible method for financing in this vein would be for the individual dealerships to be able to borrow from the other existing dealership which the holding company owns. Since the proprietor controls all dealerships, a pool could be set up for borrowing and lending in this manner. Then all financing could be kept within the organization. This would allow for expansion of dealerships and their markets in a more controlled type of environment than would otherwise be possible. This control would reduce differences in interest rates and bank lending policies by allowing fixed rates and standard policies set by the organization itself.

By using internal financing, a plan for expansion and capital expenditures can be set up using fewer variables than would be normally true. It is possible that the interest earned by the dealerships on the money that they lend to their fellow dealership would fall short of the rate which they could earn by investing it themselves. But since the proprietor owns the stock of each, he can tell what would be best for the holding company overall. The profit potential of the expansion can be great enough to overcome the shortcoming of the lost opportunity cost of the individual dealership. This type of arrangement also has the advantage of avoiding the "double taxation" which could occur if the proprietor took the money out of the corporation as dividends and then lent it to the new dealership. By avoiding removing the funds from the corporations, the funds are only taxed on the corporate level.

The best method of financing the real estate and fixed assets could go a step further. The holding company will earn fees from the dealerships by providing services (to be discussed later) to them. These fees are tax deductible to the dealership as an expense of doing business. These funds in addition to the

proprietor's own funds to be supplied as he desires or as is necessary can be used to buy the real estate and fixed assets in the name of the holding company. holding company can then lease the assets to the dealerships on a business basis. The lease payments made by the dealerships would be tax deductible to them. assets can then be depreciated by the holding company. Since the assets and expenses of a proprietorship are considered by the Internal Revenue Service to be owned by the proprietor himself, all taxes and deductions will be based on his tax rate. Given that his tax rate is higher than the 48 percent corporate rate, he will benefit because the depreciation deductions will be worth more to him. He should also be able to take advantage of the large investment tax credits (currently up to 10 percent) available. Since the amount spent on depreciable assets and those on which the investment credit can be used (probably everything to be purchased with the exception of land) will be quite large, the proprietor's taxes can be reduced significantly in this manner. not being subject to being reduced in effectiveness by the "double taxation" effect, they are even more beneficial. If the assets were bought by the dealerships,

the benefits would be used at a lower tax rate first and then only part of the benefits would be passed on because they would then be taxed as dividends when the proprietor draws his return from the corporation.

A further benefit to this latter method of financing the real estate and fixed assets stems from the fact that the proprietor can retain more control of each dealership by owning the assets. Since the dealership is a franchise operation granted by General Motors, it follows that they can extend control over operations to a certain degree over it. By putting as much of the investment as possible in his own hands, the proprietor can retain more control over the dealership. Further the disposal of these assets is at his discretion. If he decides to use the real estate (for example) for a more lucrative purpose, he is free to do so. He owns for all practical purposes both ends of the lease agreements, so they can be cancelled at his will. Sale of the assets can result in capital gains to him. In addition, if he desires he can pass these assets on to his heirs on a stepped-up basis. If the corporation were to own the assets, they would have to be sold to the proprietor at what would be considered a reasonable price by the IRS

if he desired to pass them on. Or he could pass the stock on at a stepped-up basis. Nevertheless, he would possibly lose a degree of control by not owning the physical assets of the business.

It should be mentioned here that General Motors will provide financial aid for land and facilities through its Motors Holding Division. It will provide these funds to supplement their regular or franchise investment plan. Under this plan, one-half of the total facilities cost must be obtained through a conventional mortgage loan. The loan must be amortized over a term of at least ten years with equal payments and bear interest at a maximum of 6 percent annually. Through stock arrangements, the plan provides for the rest of the necessary capital after an initial investment by the dealer.

Organization

The holding company would have many responsibilities for the proper management of the firm in addition to those previously mentioned. The individual dealerships will be strictly concerned about the day-to-day operations of the firm. This would concern new and used

auto sales, parts sales, service sales, body shop sales, new car preparation, used car reconditioning, and other . services necessary to daily operations. In addition, there are many purchasing decisions to make, such as the numbers and types of new cars, used cars to balance inventory, and the daily restocking in the parts department. agement of each department will also take place to a large extent at that level. It is important for this to occur because decisions must be able to be made immediately without the delay which would naturally occur by having to wait for the decision to come from the holding company level. Operating decisions would be concerned with what prices to sell each car, trade-in values, service complaints and problems, and other daily occurences common to operations. For unusual problems, the holding company proprietor would be consulted. This in itself says something about the nature of the proprietor's responsibilities -he must be available and in contact with the dealerships on a daily basis most of the time. He cannot spread himself too thinly or he cannot effectively control the dealerships.

Each of the dealerships must have one person within it which is responsible for the entire operation.

In General Motors' terms, he is defined as the dealeroperator. He is the one person which General Motors and the holding company can hold as fully responsible for the dealership's operation. This individual should be named general manager of the operating corporation. Directly below him in authority are the managers of the various departments of the dealerships. The organization below them can be set up as the managers decide, but a high consistency between dealerships to facilitate overall control and evaluation by the holding company should be maintained. The dealerships can be operated as independent enterprises. Any innovation by one dealership though can and should be transferred to the other dealerships as quickly as possible. This type of discovery which can be made on the dealership level include changes in the market, service problems, or more efficient operating procedures.

The overall organization of the firm will be kept as simple as possible. The proprietor will be the chairman of a board of directors. Through his chairmanship, he can control the holding company and his dealerships. Even though he would hold control over the dealerships through his stock ownership, he will be more able

to effectively coordinate the overall activities from this position. This type or organization can make this coordination much easier. Rather than operating several parts separately, the holding company and its board can work together in a manner beneficial to all. The members of the board of directors should be the general managers of each dealership corporation. In this manner, the point of view of each dealership can be represented on the board. This also facilitates maintaining effective control over the way the dealerships are being In addition to these internal members, directors run. not involved in the firm should be placed on the board. An outside director of this nature brings a more objective point of view to the firm than the internal members will bring. The internal members, no matter how they try not to, will generally be prone to subjective, somewhat biased viewpoints concerning the organization. board members can include any of the following: yer, an accountant, a business professor, a successful businessman (active or retired), or any other individual who can provide beneficial advice in an objective manner for the firm.

The result of organizing the firm in this manner is a geographically organized company with each corporate dealership being relatively self-sufficient. The holding company will provide central management and services since these can be more effectively and efficiently performed by the holding company. By concentrating management and central services in the holding company, more highly qualified personnel can be hired at a lower cost since fewer will be needed than if each dealership performed the functions. Only those services which need not be performed at each dealership can be performed centrally. Also, by having the holding company perform them, the proprietor can keep closer to each situation and more aware of the important overall situation including all of the dealerships.

Strategy

The first major responsibility of the holding company through its proprietor and board is to provide the strategy for the firm. The strategy will be determined by the goals of the firm (basically those of the proprietor), the environment in which it operates, and

the resources with which there are to work. Strategy must be mapped out if the business is to succeed. Many small businesses fail because they have neglected to do this. The first step in determining strategy is defining the objectives which the company will try to attain or what progress it should make. Objectives can be set for profitability levels, market shares, acquisitions, sales revenue, cost reduction, sales volume, return on investment, asset turnover ratios, and so forth. The automobile dealership must consider each of these carefully and determine the combination best for the firm and the owner. The marginal concept of economics should be applied to this type of decision.

The second step of strategy-making would be a close look at the resources at hand. The resources are the means under the company's control that can be used to reach its objectives. The resources of an automobile dealership of this nature include the proprietor's personal funds, the retained earnings of the holding company and the dealerships, the borrowing power of the holding

⁶Steven C. Wheelwright, "Strategic Planning in the Small Business," in <u>The Dynamic Small Firm</u>, ed. Ernest Walker (Austin, Texas: Austin Press, 1974), pp. 111-112.

company and the dealerships (backed by the proprietor's reputation and borrowing power), and the aid which General Motors can provide through Motors Holding. In addition to financial resources, other resources include manpower, plant, equipment, and any distinctive competence. To the dealerships, distinctive competences such as especially good service departments or a flair for advertising and promotion should be an advantage and used in the strategy. The combination of resources will dictate how effectively the objectives can be accomplished. The company will not desire to spread its resources too thinly which could move it toward cash insufficiency, the perennial small business threat, especially in a market which can be affected by an oil crisis. When an oil shortage forces consumer demand of autos down drastically, the automobile dealerships must have sufficient resources available to weather the crisis. The drastically reduced demand during parts of 1974 and 1975 resulted in a high rate of dealership failure. The holding company must be sure that they can successfully overcome a malady of this nature. This discussion has included a

⁷Dible, Organization, p. 177.

portion of the third element of strategy, the environment. The holding company must look into the future towards those circumstances over which the firm has no
control. In addition to the external environment such
as the economy, the oil supply, political events, inflation, competitive conditions, and public opinion, there
is an internal environment to consider. This generally
includes employee problems, the ability to retain good
employees, collection problems, and internal strife.
The holding company should strive to alleviate as many
environmental effects as possible.

Strategy formulation determines how the holding company will combine the above-mentioned factors.

Several alternative strategies should be considered, and
the most-likely to succeed should be used. The time span
of the strategy must be considered and will be a determining factor in deciding what strategy to employ. The
strategy itself will define policies or rules to be followed in the effected time span in order to attain implementation. These policies and rules should allow
enough flexibility to meet any contingencies as they
arise. The contingencies which can arise in this firm
are auto shortages due to factory strikes, rising

prices, and other environmental factors. It is important that the strategy be set by all of the board of directors because they are the persons responsible for carrying it out.

Planning

The holding company will also be responsible for planning the operations of the dealerships after the strategy has been determined. The planning aspect determines how the strategy will be implemented. Planning includes factors such as personnel deployment, capital expenditures, internal control procedures, budgeting, quota setting, marketing efforts, pricing policies, and sales campaigns. Planning must consider objectives, forecasting, and analysis over the planning time frame. In many small businesses, there are barriers against effective planning. Small companies' management is often too preoccupied with the dousing of day-to-day "brush fires." But the usual tightness of money in small companies makes planning essential. It is particularly important in this case to properly allocate the firm's resources. thermore, it is important for the manager to realize that

it is the long-term future which will result in significant financial rewards. He must plan with this in mind. The long-term should not be sacrificed for the short-term.

Planning means tackling problems over which there is great uncertainty. But by planning, these uncertainties can be recognized, reduced, and prepared for. Planning properly will eliminate many of the day-to-day "brush fires" that usually occur. The company can take advantage of outside advice, internal sources, and external sources in the planning process. The outside advice can come from the board of directors of the holding company who are not internal directors. This is one reason why it is advantageous to have a lawyer, an accountant, and possibly a banker on the board. Internal information can come from the company cost accounting system (which will be compiled by the holding company) and from various internal control reports from the dealerships' departments. It may not be necessary to revise the existing information systems. The firm may be able to take advantage of the existing systems. The structure of the reports should clearly show the important aspects of each department and include an analysis of

the contribution to profits. Further the volume of information should be reduced to only the factors which the management considers important. External sources from which information can be gleened include the employees of the company, customer surveys, the related automobile divisions, written materials, reference books, university professors, and libraries.

Overall Management

the holding company will be responsible for the overall management of the dealerships. This type of management includes all general management except that of daily affairs. The type of management to be used should allow each corporation to operate relatively independently. Daily operations will be controlled by the general manager of each. The proprietor should be available to solve the problems which arise and cannot be handled by the dealership personnel. He should (with the aid of the board of directors) also make all decisions involving capital outlays, financial arrangements, major marketing, sales, and pricing decisions, and all major inventory policy decisions. These decisions will be

passed on by the proprietor through his position as president of each corporation and chairman of the board of the holding company. Decisions of this nature include the automobile inventory purchases. This type of decision can influence all of the dealerships and should be made through a meeting of the general managers of the dealerships. The proprietor can determine the decision process on a continuing basis.

Evaluation

The evaluation process can be made in much the same manner. Evaluation is a critical part of the management process. The results of the evaluations provide direct input to the strategy and planning process. The main sources of evaluation will be the cost accounting data and internal control reports, the general managers' observations, the proprietor's observations, and comparisons to other dealership situations. The cost accounting data and internal control reports can supply insight on those areas of operations which are efficient and profitable and those which are not. With this data, trouble spots can be identified and further investigated. The

general managers' observations are a good source of evaluation material due to their close relationship to their situations. They are in the position of being responsible for their dealerships and thus should be in a good position to gather appropriate facts and ideas on the dealership level. The proprietor must then be able to assimilate the evaluation information gathered. He must weigh the information and make final decisions, by himself on the dealership level and with the board on the holding company level. Comparison data is available from other dealerships from the related auto division. data is furnished monthly and provides a good basis for determining performance in relation to dealers in comparable situations. These figures can give the dealer an idea of where he needs or can make the most improvement. The figures are furnished on a departmental basis.

Central Services and Functions

The holding company will also be responsible for accounting, innovation and research, marketing, inventory control, and, as mentioned earlier, financing functions. The accounting can be centralized easily,

and the centralization can be an advantage to the holding company as well as the dealerships. The accounting (which includes the bookkeeping function) can be done in the central office by gathering the proper figures from the dealerships at the end of each day. By performing the accounting function in this manner, more effective control can be exerted because performance can be measured both overall and by dealership as often as is deemed necessary by the proprietor. The function can be facilitated through the use of a small-business compu-The properly chosen computer can perform all accounting functions plus prepare many types of internal control reports at any point in time. This allows the proprietor a more extensive and continuous control function. The profitability, sales, costs, ratios, and other performance factors can be measured in this manner. set of books should be maintained for each dealership and the holding company separately while a set should also be compiled for the overall operation.

Innovation and Research

Innovation and research can also be best performed on the holding company level. This prevents the maintainance of these functions at each dealership. While this function is not to be banned from the dealerships, it is often a difficult and time consuming job which is ignored anyway at that level. At this time, the industry is making rapid advancement in both the knowledge field and in mechanization. On the dealership level, this task then is becoming harder and harder to perform. This is why the holding company should perform the function. It is possible that the function could be performed, at least in part, by the proprietor himself.

Marketing

The marketing function can also be best coordinated and instituted by the holding company. The marketing function--pricing, promotion, product, and distribution--needs to have a central controlling force which would allow a more extensive and cohesive marketing plan than could be accomplished by making each dealership try to perform the function. More effective marketing research can be undertaken by the holding company because it can take more time and has a broader market perspective than the individual dealership does. It can look

at larger surveys, search more data, and spend more time in determining the marketing mix which fits the dealerships best. Pricing policies can be best selected by the holding company through surveys and examination of a large segment of competition. Promotion can be arranged on a larger and more coordinated scale than possible on the dealership level. Newspaper, billboard, and radio packages specially designed for the dealerships combined effort can be prepared and executed. The dealerships individually could not afford promotion schemes on the scale that would be possible on the holding company level. Product lines must also be determined. While the auto line can be changed in a major move, other decisions must also be made. These include whether or not to carry related lines of your General Motors division such as the Chevrolet LUV truck line, the Buick Opel line, or the larger Chevrolet diesel trucks. Another decision would concern whether or not to engage in a leasing operation in a major way. Each line costs money to obtain and maintain. In addition, a parts stock must be maintained, and service personnel must be educated. Through its better marketing ability, the holding company can choose the products more intelligently. Distribution decisions by

the holding company would mainly include determining when and whether or not to move some of the automobile stock around between dealerships. Furthermore, the amount and types of cars to order for stock is an important consideration. By being able to observe the overall situation, the holding company can see where there are too many cars, where certain lines are over-or understocked, where sales potential indicates moving cars to another area, and the sales trends of the various car lines.

Inventory Control

The distribution function of marketing overlaps into the inventory control function of the holding
company. Beyond the auto inventory control, there is
also the aspect of parts control. By being forced to
stock parts at all of the dealerships due to the service department requirements at each, a system of sharing inventories should be advantageous. By sharing, a
part that is relatively slow moving could be stocked by
only one dealership (while making certain that not just
one particular dealership be burdened by carrying an excess of this type of part) allowing the part to at least
be stocked. By having several dealerships, the

likelihood for the part being demanded would be significantly increased. The holding company could best maintain an inventory system of this nature. Also by using the proper computer, inventory analysis could take place allowing proper inventory size, economic order quantities, and order timing to take place. This type of service could possibly be purchased by each dealership individually, but the price could conceivably be lowered and a larger degree of control exerted if the holding company performed this inventory service. Effective control is the key here.

Financing

The financing functions performed by the holding company have been discussed to a fairly thorough degree earlier. An advantage to using the holding company
concept in addition to those advantages mentioned earlier, is the way in which the increased borrowing power
could aid the dealerships in obtaining an advantage in
floor-planning financing. By using the greater credit
ability of the combined dealerships, the floor-planning
could be done at a slightly reduced rate. Also, by

having the holding company in charge, resources can be channeled to the areas in most need. The holding company through its overall perspective can best measure the needs for the combined good of the dealerships (and which as a result benefit the proprietor most) which would be extremely difficult if there were no holding company but only the stockholder. The organization and perspective of the holding company would be a benefit over that arrangement.

Captive Finance Company

Another benefit of the holding company entity would be the ability to form a captive finance company. By using a captive finance company, a firm such as the automobile dealership holding company which sells a product almost exclusively on a financed basis can participate in the profits from the interest payments. The finance company would be established as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the holding company as a finance company for the time-sales paper generated by the dealerships. The subsidiary would be given cash capital of its own and would make arrangements with outside financial institutions to obtain leverage borrowing. The cash

capital given to the subsidiary would be the determinate for the maximum rediscount line.

The maximum rediscount line normally starts on a conservative basis such as a 1-1/2 to 1 ratio of cash loanable to the finance company for each dollar of cash capital that it puts up. After confidence can be established between the two parties, the line can periodically increase up to 3 to 1 or possibly 4 to 1. For example if the cash capital was set at \$100,000, the subsidiary could obtain \$400,000 from the outside institution. This type of leverage is a prime attraction for establishing this rediscount arrangement.

The establishment of the subsidiary is usually made to facilitate growth of sales on an installment basis, an objective being to enhance profits from increases in volume. A standard financing package for all of the dealerships should be established which can allow salesmen to do a better, more consistent selling job. Also, by carrying its own paper, the holding company can maintain closer contact with customers which should result in continuing sales on a repeat basis. Lastly and most importantly, the company can also make a profit from the financing itself.

To determine the profit-making potential of the subsidiary, the cost of the rediscount must be compared to the cost of discounting paper with an outside In this manner, the true profit can be deter-The financing profit is generated by the excess of add-on income on the sales over the cost of money and handling. The three variables then that are the important factors are the following: time-sales price differential, handling cost, and rediscount interest The netting-out of these factors determines the The time sales price differential will generally run at about 10 percent per year yielding an income of approximately 20 percent interest on its money. The physical handling of the paper should average between 1 percent and 3 percent of the contract sales The handling price includes preparing payment books, entering payments, checking credit, and making collection follow-up. The cost of rediscounting funds varies between 6 percent and 12 percent simple interest which depends on the source and the application of the funds.8

^{*}Royce Diener, How to Finance a Growing Business (New York: Frederick Fell Publishers, 1974), pp. 220-221.

A further cost factor is involved--bad-debt loss. This loss is usually not as significant in a captive finance company as it is in an ordinary operating business. In the captive company, there should be more prudent credit policies, and the receivables are covered by a contract of conditional sale rather than being on an open account basis. The possibility of repossession can force the customer to make strong efforts to avoid losing any equities he has invested. A conservative estimate of the cost is approximately 1-1/2 percent.

These losses can be set higher for income tax deductions. The deduction further cushions the effect of the loss.

Personnel

To be able to provide these services to the dealerships, the holding company will need to hire personnel. The number of dealerships under the holding company's management will determine the actual number of employees, but the basic types of jobs will remain

⁹Ibid., pp. 221-222.

¹⁰Ibid.

the same. There must be a bookkeeper capable of maintaining the records. In addition, this employee should be able to run the type of computer used since most of the bookkeeping will be processed through it. A secretary to handle the clerical work must also be employed. This position will grow in the numbers necessary to fill it as a direct function of the number of dealerships acquired. Thirdly, since the proprietor will be responsible for general management, he will need an administrative assistant to aid in performing his tasks as the dealerships and related business responsibilities increase in number. This employee will be in a key position as the company grows since the proprietor will have to limit his attention to strictly the major decisions because they will be more numerous than they were before an acquisition. The assistant must be able to carryout the proprietor's decisions and provide administrative assistance. The proprietor must not overburden himself and as a result stretch himself too thinly which would eventually reduce his effectiveness. This type of assistant should be a college graduate with a degree in business administration. This position could be used by him as a stepping stone to becoming a general manager of one of the dealerships or to acquiring a dealership of his own at a different location. This work experience could be valuable to both the assistant and the company.

Computer Use

Since mention has been made of computer usage, it is appropriate to discuss it further here. Computer services are available from various companies in metropolitan areas. The fees for the services range in price as do the extent of services offered. The question is raised of whether or not the firm should have an inhouse computer. The financial feasibility for owning or leasing an inhouse computer must be based on present value decision procedures. Side benefits such as increased specialization through custom-programs, ability to perform services not available from other companies, and control over the price and consistency of the services are also to be weighed in the selection process.

Presently, there are computers which are specially designed for dealerships which are becoming available on the market. One such computer which would seem to be suitable for the holding company operation is the

"Easi-II" made by Investment Control, Inc. The benefits of the unit are many and several of the benefits are not . available from computer service companies. Since the holding company would be operating on a large enough scale, the benefits of this type of specialized knowledge could be obtained. This particular computer has been especially designed for General Motors dealerships and has been highly mentioned by the Chevrolet division. The computer system was developed by combining the knowledge of experienced automotive people and qualified computer technicians. The system ties together all of the departments of the dealership. This type of system will take care of all of the services which can be purchased from computer service companies plus some others. provices sales follow-up ability even on used cars, new and used car inventory control, and warranty processing and collecting. Of these, the warranty processing and collecting is most unusual. By supplying this service, the system goes far in making itself a valuable tool. The cost of different systems varies. The "Easi-II" sells for \$67,000 outright or leases for \$1,450 per month. A decision of this nature, of course, must be made on a present value basis including the lease or

buy proposal. A further benefit is the ability of the dealer to keep all data on a private and a "need-to-know" basis.

Acquisitions and Expansion The Existing Dealership

When choosing the possibilities for expansion of the holding company, decisions must be made for choosing among existing dealerships, applying for new dealerships, and integrating the new dealerships into the By deciding to acquire an existing dealership, system. the company can benefit from several aspects since the dealership is presently operating in the market place. First, the dealership has been operating in a defined market area. Examining this situation allows the acquirer to see what has been done in the past and postulate the potential existing for the future. In this manner, the value of the dealership can be more easily and accurately determined since there is an historical basis. the dealership has existing facilities. This can reduce time and cost of initiating operations for the holding company due to a reduction of building and preparation time. The existing dealership can also be undervalued

for various reasons. Factors involved in forcing a situation of this nature include mismanagement of the dealership's resources, environmental problems (internal or external), or the retirement or death of the dealers. The dealership may have a value below what it should actually be worth on the market place with the proper management. It is possible that an excellent deal can be arranged with a dealership in this type of predicament. Finally, part of the dealership personnel may be qualified to be a part of the new dealership. This can save both recruitment efforts and costs. In starting a new dealership from scratch, outside recruiting would be necessary although some holding company personnel may be able to be switched to the dealership. In purchasing an existing dealership, an evaluation of the purchase price must be made. One of the best methods for pricing is using an earnings-multiplier. Using this method, a total price is determined by multiplying a certain number of years times the present level of profits. But unless the evaluation is taken one step further, a complication arises. What one dealer can earn on the assets may differ from what another can earn on those same assets. The discrepancy must be taken into account. This

is done by using the seller's present earnings multiplier in an effort to determine what the business is worth to the seller as he operates it now. Then the buver's multiplier can be applied to those same assets determining what the purchase should be worth to him. The probable purchase price will be somehwere in the middle ground between the two values. In making this determination it is often advisable to remove any nonoperating assets whose value may distort the earnings figures. Further, in determining the final decision of whether to buy or not, it may be advisable to determine the probability of the firm remaining solvent in conjunction with using present value techniques. A small business such as the holding company in question cannot survive a "cash crunch" as easily as the large company can. 11 Since this is true, then risk of insolvency should be examined and judged with respect to the proprietor's utility function.

Tax implications should also be considered before any acquisition is attempted. The buyer should pay

¹¹ Sheridan C. Biggs, Jr., "Survival of the Smallest or How a Small Company Can Reach the Other End of the 1970's," in The Dynamic Small Firm, ed. Ernest Walker (Austin, Texas: Austin Press, 1974), p. 6.

special attention to allocation of value to the assets involved in the transaction. His point of view may be in conflict with the seller's in this aspect. The seller will wish to value any inventory at the lowest possible price and allocate a higher proportion to nondepreciable items such as goodwill and land. This arises because the sale of inventory produces ordinary income for the seller while the sale of the nondepreciable assets (and certain depreciable ones) will allow recognition of capital gains. The holding company should try to put as much of the allocation as possible into the depreciable assets. The holding company is not intending to sell the dealerships in its near future; therefore, it should concentrate on receiving future depreciation on buildings and equipment which qualify as tax deductible expenses 12 rather than on receiving future capital gains. Since land cannot be depreciated, then an effort should be made to allocate less value to it and more value to assets which can be depreciated. Allocation to depreciable assets is favored even though that in the event these assets which have been depreciated

¹² Sommerfeld, Decisions, p. 169.

are sold, much of the gain may be realized as ordinary income. 13 The deductibility of depreciation expenses creates a higher cash flow with which to help service In the case where the holding company excompany debt. pects to sell some of the assets of the acquired dealership in the near-term (as in a change of location, etc.), it may be wise to view the allocation from a more capital gains oriented perspective. A further point to be considered on the allocation problem extends to installment purchases. The buyer should try to get as much of each allocation as possible to be viewed as interest payments since they are deductible to the buyer. The seller on the other hand may be interested in making most of the installment price into the principle rather than interest in order to allow him to recognize capital gains rather than any ordinary gains resulting from interest income.

The New Dealership

While acquiring an existing dealership, the holding company can rely on the historical data of the

¹³ Ibid., pp. 178-180.

dealership as well as the holding company's own marketing data, but in starting a new dealership at a new location, the company must rely exclusively on its marketing research data. It must use a program of marketing research to postulate as closely as possible the sales and profit potential of the prospective area without any help from historical data or experience in that area. Therefore, the research must be more extensive than that which would be undertaken in acquiring an existing dealership. As much data as possible must be formulated into the decision-making process. The decision should be made along the same procedure that was previously recommended for the acquisition of existing dealerships including both marketing and financial analysis. tablishing a new dealership, there are no existing assets or dealer goodwill meaning that any accomplishment must start from scratch. This task may be more difficult than initiating a successful operation from an acquired existing dealership; therefore, this type of move should be examined extremely carefully. In the acquisition and operation of an existing dealership, the company can be relatively confident that it will do no worse than the acquired dealership would have done in the future. But in establishing a new dealership without the aid of historical data, the risk is made greater because the decision to initiate operations was made with less factual information.

Integration

Integration of new dealerships into the holding company system must be carefully planned. In this type of organization though, it should not be difficult. The expansion will be of a horizontal rather than a vertical nature. Thus, there is little required timing coordination to be developed as would be necessary in a vertical integration. Proper attention must be paid to involving the new dealership in the services the holding company provides. The dealership must also be integrated into the planning process in order to be a working part of the financial and sales organization. person installed as general manager of the dealership must become involved in the board's decision process on a gradual basis as quickly as possible. Since the dealership fits into the structure horizontally, this would basically be all the integration process that is required.

Conclusion

erships, it is possible to overcome the barriers and problems which present themselves to automobile dealers with relatively small sales volume potential. Those problems and barriers include General Motors' regulations and the difficulties of successful small business operation. The holding company concepts presented provide a viable solution. By carefully structuring and administering the company, a successful operation providing the proprietor with acceptable financial rewards can be attained. The benefits which were not available to small dealerships before can be within their reach with this holding company concept.

A P P E N D I C E S

APPENDIX I

Mention should be made of the relationship between the dealer-owner and the dealer-operator. The dealer-operator being a minority stockholder (25%) stands to lose the position in which he has invested a great deal of his own time, energy, and money. Without a formal written agreement between the two parties, any type of contingency could disrupt the relationship and cause the dealer-operator irreparable harm. Even in the case of an owner-operator relationship where the two are blood relatives, there should be a formal written contract since there can easily be a "falling out" between them.

The agreement should be composed by the parties and checked for legal validity. The form of the contract can vary, but the content should be consistent. The operator desires to maintain his position in order to have a greater degree of control of his investment, to maintain job security, and to attain the potential financial rewards available from holding the position. Sections of the contract should contain provisions pertaining to the above requirements. Among the specifics to be included

in the agreement is the issue of job security. The operator should obtain an agreement which covers his lifetime if that is desired. It should be agreed that for as long as the holding company remains in business, he will remain as dealer-operator. Further, it should be agreed that if the business is dissolved, he will be named as successor dealer on a General Motors Corporation successor addendum in order to remain as dealer-operator. He should also be a proposed new dealer-operator on the successor addendum in order to allow him a chance to maintain or increase his financial participation. In addition, the operator should make an effort to attain compensation benefits in case the dealership was terminated and he could not remain as an operator or owner. By including these items in an agreement, the operator can be in a more desirable position than otherwise possible.

APPENDIX 2

To better display the ideas presented in this report the following example of an automobile dealership operation and applicable holding company concepts is supplied. The data used in the example is actual data from two small town (population under 10,000) dealerships. The data is disguised as are the names and locations of the dealerships. The dealerships will be identified as Dealership 1 and Dealership 2.

Assume that the owner of Dealership 1 desires to take over Dealership 2 and in doing this takes advantage of the holding company concepts presented in this report. In this example, Dealership 1 is operating as a partnership; so the first step taken should be to incorporate the dealership in order to take advantage of the benefits outlined in the report. Since Dealership 2 is already a corporation, no change in its business form would be necessary. The corporation should be set up under Section 1244 of the Internal Revenue code as a sort of "no cost insurance" described in the text. Capital stock would be issued to the partners for the investments they have in the partnership in the same proportions as the partner's investment.

The majority partner would become chairman of the board of the holding company and president of each corporation. He would be classified as both a dealer-owner and a dealer-operator. The two minority stockholders could be classified in the same manner. A general manager should be appointed to each dealership. These should probably be the two minority stockholders.

The tax effect on these two dealerships would be favorable as described in the report. The partnership has three partners with a 50 percent-25 percent-25 percent investment arrangement. The majority partner, assuming no other income, would be taxed on 50 percent of the profit for 1975 of \$225,434.00, which comes to a \$112,717.00 This would put him in the 60 percent income tax bracket while if the business were incorporated he would be subject only to the maximum tax on earned income assuming he received his share as a salary. Further, any funds reinvested in the business would not be taxed as they would have been in the partnership. Even further tax benefits in the form of fringe benefits would be available due to incorporation. The companies in the example offer as their only benefits accident and life insurance policies. None of the other fringe benefits mentioned in the

report can be taken advantage of in the present partnership form.

The proprietor must also be aware of the benefits of transferability of ownership interest that incorporation would bring. He currently has over \$432,000 invested in the partnership alone. Since he would have to dispose of the assets individually as a partner, he loses the ability to dispose of his investment. By incorporating, he would own shares of stock which are easily valued and sold, given away, or willed to heirs.

The debt/equity decision must be based to a large extent on expected levels of new car sales. When consulting the sales manager of Dealership 1, an almost certain 10 percent rise in new car sales could be expected for both dealerships involved. A corresponding rise in earnings should then occur. Using the formula presented in the text, the indifference point where the amount of earnings before interest and taxes which earns the same amount on equity capital no matter the debt/equity ratio equals \$40,320 (given an 8% interest rate). Assuming the expected 10 percent rise in earnings for 1977 over the 1976 earnings of \$279,466.80, the indifference point would be exceeded by \$239,146 (\$279,466 - \$40,320). Thus,

expected earnings are over 3.75 times the indifference point. A great deal of debt could be taken on by the firm with little risk of not being able to service it. For example, a 25/75 debt/equity ratio could be taken on resulting in \$10,080 in interest charges (at 8%). If earnings decreased to zero and the fixed interest payments were met, a loss of only \$.02 per equity dollar would occur. Furthermore, even less risk would result since when a dealership incurred cash problems, it could take advantage of the holding company structure to borrow money from a sister dealership.

The proprietor should acquire the real estate and fixed assets and enter into the type lease agreement with the dealerships described in the text. The tax savings should be worthwhile considering the proprietor probably has enough outside income to place him in an income tax bracket of over 65 percent. The benefits of more control over the dealership could also be attained in this manner.

The company should also set up a captive finance company to increase the selling power and the income of the dealerships. The dealerships in question had a combined finance income of only \$2,608 on sales of 720 new

units and 912 used units. Thus, there is ample room for improvement. By taking advantage of financing a selected group of customers, a significant rise in income could be effected. The sales manager of Dealership 1 estimates that between 85 percent and 90 percent of the units sold are financed. Given this estimate, the captive finance company could restrict itself to financing the safest 30 percent of the customers and reap substantial profits. Given the income and expense figures in the text, finance income could be increased up to approximately \$70,000 with only a slightly increased risk factor.

Personnel costs for the dealerships would not be forced to rise. A look at the comparative statements shows the personnel costs per new unit sold to be higher for these small dealerships than for larger dealerships (see Table 3). By redistributing the workload and putting some of the excess workers into holding company jobs, the larger workload brought on by the holding company could be handled. Further increases in size could then also be handled in the same manner. Computer use as discussed in the text could become practical and reduce costs and increase efficiency even more.

The inventory control function could also be vastly improved. Only the items which move on a daily

basis need be stocked by both dealerships. Total parts and accessories inventory for the two dealerships amounted to \$290,238. This amount could be substantially reduced allowing the funds involved to be invested elsewhere more profitably. Analysis of inventory records will allow the parts to be classified in this nature.

In the same manner as other services could be used more efficiently, so could the advertising expenditure (same ads used jointly), supply expenditure (fewer duplications of work), new car inventory (more model coverage with no added investment), and body shop investment and expenses (could conceivably consolidate this part of the shop into a single unit).

The holding company concept as applied to these dealerships can, as has been shown, be a very valuable tool in an effort to expand business and increase profits. Any small dealership with expansion capital available would do well to consider this approach.

OFC	TON SIP	225434	4501 to 0 1004		1	
OCT NOV	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				TT STREET THEN STREET STREET OFFICES	. OF STO.
PROTEIN NO	INC. THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPE	60636	Partner 3		HIGHES CARS VALUE TRUCKS	ALD CALL
Wert 566	ACCOR TAKES 1919 CONTRACTOR	288303		122893	284276	07.41
225 434	INET PROFIT OR LOSS STRONG INCOME TAXES		Partner 3	3696	91926 55332	40 100 3181
15 0	I SHOTEM!	72000	Partner			
1 000	0.6.0.98	144000	Partner 1	658	41 522 40862	
200 1	SOPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS ILVALIA A SINGLAS.	275	DIVIDENDS	49464	-	
8 495	TOTAL EXPENSES THAT A			17181	17233	2003
1, 105	TOTAL FIXED CHECKED CONTROL OF	370	Souther and a second	4744		COUNT
2 3					D A	COR ACCUR.
33 566	DESCRIPTION - ROUTENAMENT	3	Capital States	28263	MENTAL UNITS	
8	-		EDIDECINE &	1239652	TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS ALVES TO 12 + 03 THE 455	TOTAL CURE
3 € 075			THE RELATIONST COMES BY ARMS IN CASE STATES		07.00	-
11 9	X HEAT LIGHT FOWER AND WATER			-	COLUMN STATES TARES	et 3 C * + 2 m.
20 66	INVESTED BENT BRENT		NET WORKING CAPITAL		MANAGE COMMISSIONS MECENABLE	MSUBANCE C
3 717		476636	S TOTAL LIABILITIES	7948	ZII.	MARRANTY CLAIMS
	& IMPROVEMENTS				Sharen.	CO SOMME I MORE SHO
4 902	PROPERTY PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY ADDRESS OF THE PROPE	2000	TOTAL . LINES TO THE STATE OF THE STATE	12996		SECTION SEC
15 8	#(NT	757767	-		TOTAL INVENTORIES	TOTAL
90 84	TOTAL SEMI-FIXED CLINES IN THRU ST.	ž	N.B. LONG TERM DEST	11868		SHIP
6.3				7694	HISCELLANEOUS ASSETS RECEIVED IN TRADE	M-SCELLANEC
10 4	D THE PROPERTY AND THE	2/00/0	CONTROL CONTRO		SCORE REPAIRS	SUBLET MESANS
2.2	REMEMBERS DOLS AND PUBLICATIONS	_	100	11600	PAINT AND BODY SHOP MATERIALS	
10 10				1084	Culture .	CAS OIL AND GREASE
		6840	DIMES EXPENSES SWAMPLE	23652	3	1:015
5	OUTSIDE SERVICES - DATA PROCESSING	33:	B PENSION FUND PATABLE	220102	TEN ENGOSESCO	PARTS AND ACCESSORIES
0,40	CONTRIBUTIONS	22.0	B CHACARS BOSCHES ANAMARE	35*35		38.N.
15.5		72.0	BIRCON INTERPRETE	100		
16.7		12.	C OTHER TARES PAYABLE	143175	240	W USED CARS
9 %	OFFICE SUPPLIES AND EXPENSES	2578	C SALES TAXLS PAYABLE	2666	MOTIVE 231	STITEM AUTOMOTIVE
4.5	COMPANY VCHICLE CEPENSE		A PAYROLL TAKES PAYABLE	Cities		CANDRIA MAN &
240 000			TALERICA BACKS & CORRESSIONS PAYABLE	1110		
		110	INTEREST PAYABLE	122764		- NEW CARS
20 724	E EMPLOYE SEMESTES		COSTORER MOTES IN ACCT 210			1
9 30	A TANKS PAYROLL	20/00	O WOLLD MANAGE TO WEEK	50.588	Contraction Contra	- Distor
77 4	S OLIVE SALVANIES AND ANGELS	262626	MOTES PAYABLE - LEASE B MENTAL SHITS	(MASA)		
\$ 1		110	MINES SAVABLE - MES ASSISTED DESIGN	202041	ACT CUSTOME ACCUVABLES	ALT CUSTON
68 6	D variables - states - states - states	2750	T WARRANTY CLAIMS ADVANCE	307411	CONTRACTS	TOTAL
43 200	Calbuttanian Calbuttania	130	C CUSTOMER DEPOSITS	4292	TRANSIT	C. MIRACIS
864		28586	C ACCIDENT BELLE VANCE CHEC I MACANCES	269242	Annual Control of the	
200	Designation and the second	AMOUNT		IN DOMA	A 5 5 F 7 5	
-	IN ASSESSMENT OF THE PARTY OF T				des Private	1/31/
111 -111	PENSES	r			75	FROM 2/1/75
200 000				TA HETTER		COVERIA
-	こう 「「「」」 「「」」 「「」」 「」」 「」」 「」」 「」」 「」」 「」				١	

	56397	1407 ° 04 L089	2	The same and account of the same of the sa
July Oct			36252	ACCOUNTS BECEIVABLE - OFFICERS
O 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	TOTAL STATE	202		THE PROPERTY CARS VALUE TRACES
165 177 177 177 B	NEONE TAKES	The Grant west	138151	01A1344 138151
OWNERS TO THE PROPERTY OF THE	Sashnua ,			20000000
	\$350.058 v		2000	ľ
	10¢ (3N	Santatative G		4387
OR 1055 (Cate) and (1)	1 OPERATIO	O DIN DEMOS	Dogo	1)200
THE PARTY OF THE P	SECRETARIAN DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY OF THE		1	48000
39 345 - 4	135596	O D . B. F.A. WED & ADM. WES		ACCOUNT COST DEPRICATION
CC PRINT BINTAL	110000	**Cr		•
-	MOUNT	MET WORTH TO		A11 w3x -4-min
			396472	TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NSUPANCE OTHER		DEATER STORY OF THE PARTY OF THE SAME	BE	- Tare
	, sub	170 000	ž	Street Street direction
PROVENSAL OF			Ē	STIENNES COMMISSIONS MEGENANCE
PEAL ESTATE IA	04545	TOTAL LIABILITIES TARRES OF THEFE SA.	186	SAUGABTY CLAIMS
Blates State		THE MUNICIPALITY PROBLE - STATE STATE STATE	1	Ex.
4100-1148140104	17	TOTAL 25 7-PM	120	The state of the s
40	1410		184370	TAL INVENTORIES TALL 12
FIXED THE PART OF	70	N.B LING TERM DEBT		
TELEPHONE AND TELEPHAPPH	THE STATE OF THE S		1	SCHOOL PROCESS - LABOR
36	04545	TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES	2	SUBLET REPAIRS
	Ala 3		183	PAINT AND BODY SHOP MATERIALS
70	7840		1178	GAS DIL AND GREASE
OTHER	0UT	OTHER EXPENSES PAYABLE	345	TARES
SOOS STATES TO STATES AND SERVICES	100	D PERSON TOWNS TAXABLE	7360	PARTY AND RECESSORIES
	1 50%	EMPLOYES MONUSES PAYABLE	9863	USED TRUCKS
45	A ADVE	B INCOME TAKES PAYABLE		urus seria
CINCA SUPPLIES	2500	C OTHER TAXES PANABLE	35793	
15 3542483	. 26	A PAYROLL TAKES PAYABLE		
CENTERSE 33	nar.	MANUAL PARABLE	19833	* NO. 1740.29
TOTAL PERSONNEL + ++++ 14		SALARIES WAGES & COMMISSIONS PRYABLE		4 March 4 March 100 March
21		MIERCS PAYABLE	30691	PRES CARS
The state of the s	N THE STATE OF THE	E CUSTOMER MOTES IN ACCT 210	1021	. 00 403
E COMPENSATION	N. V. Destart	O MOTES PAYABLE - OTHER	193170	AL RECEIVABLES
**************************************	V 3	BOILS BALABIE - FLEASE & SEALUL DRAIS VI	П	of pages to
	m T	SORED & SETZINES AND STRANGE SEEMS SEEMS	193170	CENTRALLY THE CANADA
\$100	686	A MYBRARIA CTVING VANAGE	T	TOTAL CASH AND CONTRACTS
ZO ZO	1	CH CARD & BATTANCES	3916	
8	7209	Sections inves		And the state of the same of t
2 040	A ROUNT	LIABILITIES	>MOUNT	SSETS
H				94/14/1
100	GROSS PROFIT			55.36
district to the seasons and the	2		DEALER #2	SAN SAN
SALES	110万元			

THE PERMOLDS & REYMOLD. TO. CELINA ONIO

Dealer Sales and Service Agreement

BUICK MOTOR VEHICLES

AGREEMENT, effective theby and between General Motors Corpor		
an individual a co-partnership	Of	,
a corporation, incorporated in the State of	City	State
hereinafter called Dealer	•	

GENERAL PURPOSE OF THIS AGREEMENT

The marketing plans followed by the Car and Truck Divisions of General Motors involving the sale of cars and/or trucks to and by the dealers they franchise, and the performance of service thereon, have as their primary objective, and the mutual objective of each such Division and of all such dealers must continue to be, the fulfilling of a basic public need — the need for individual transportation.

It is the responsibility of Buick Motor Division of General Motors to market Buick motor vehicles. Throughout this Agreement the term "Buick" shall mean Buick Motor Division of General Motors.

The success of Buick and each Franchised Buick Dealer depends importantly upon how well they each fulfill their respective responsibilities. It is recognized that General Motors will endeavor to design and manufacture quality motor vehicles that offer attractive values to purchasers; that Buick will endeavor to establish franchised dealers in such numbers and at such locations as will provide effective sales and service effort at the retail level, convenient service for owners of the motor vehicles marketed by Buick, and adequate sales and service opportunities for each franchised dealer; and that each franchised dealer must fuifill its functions and responsibilities through aggressive, sound and ethical selling practices and through conscientious regard for customer service.

The success of Buick and of Franchised Buick Dealers is mutually dependent. The success of each is affected by the efforts and success of the other. Effective marketing and servicing of Buick motor vehicles involves cooperative effort and a close relationship between Buick and each Franchised Buick Dealer in fulfilling the sales and service needs of customers and owners.

If Dealer has been granted franchise and related rights under other Dealer Sales and Service Agreements covering other makes of General Motors motor vehicles, only one of the Divisions of General Motors will have responsibility for administering certain provisions of this Agreement and such other Dealer Sales and Service Agreements. The Division of General Motors having such responsibility will be designated to Dealer by Buick or by such other Division and, with respect to such provisions, the term "Buick" as used in this Agreement shall mean either Buick or such other Division, as the case may be.

It is the responsibility of General Motors Parts Division to market and distribute and to administer, together with Buick, the provisions of this Agreement relating to General Motors Parts and Accessories, and throughout this Agreement the term "GM Parts" shall mean General Motors Parts Division of General Motors.

This Agreement establishes Dealer as a Franchised Buick Dealer and sets forth the basic ground rules and procedures that will apply to the franchise relationship and to the business transactions that will be conducted by Buick and Dealer. In doing so, it sets forth the Franchise and Related Rights that Dealer will enjoy as one of the Franchised Buick Dealers selected by Buick to market and service specified Buick motor vehicles; the responsibilities that Dealer assumes in consideration of such Franchise and Related Rights; and the respective conditions, rights and obligations of Buick and Dealer that are applicable to Buick's grant to Dealer of such Franchise and Related Rights and Dealer's fulfillment of such responsibilities.

For consistency and clarity in presenting the provisions of this Agreement, frequently used terms have been defined in Article I of this Agreement and are employed throughout the Agreement and in the Addenda, Manuals, Bulletins and other documents referred to herein. Reference should be made when necessary to such definitions for a proper understanding of provisions in which they appear.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the promises hereinafter made by the parties to each other, it is hereby mutually agreed:

FIRST: Franchise and Related Rights

(a) Grants by Buick

Subject to the conditions and provisions set forth in this Agreement, Buick hereby

- (1) grants Dealer a franchise to conduct the complete Dealership Operations contemplated under Section A of Article III of this Agreement at and from the Dealership Locations and Dealership Premises described and established in accordance with the provisions of Section B of Article III of this Agreement;
- (2) grants Dealer a non-exclusive right to buy and undertakes to sell to Dealer on a non-exclusive basis new Motor Vehicles and Parts and Accessories, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Article II of this Agreement, for resale or for rental or lease by Dealer in its conduct of the Dealership Operations; and
- (3) grants Dealer a non-exclusive right, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Section G of Article III of this Agreement, to identify itself as a Franchised Buick Dealer and to display, in the conduct of the Dealership Operations, the various trademarks and service marks, and the several other word and design marks that General Motors uses in connection with or applies to Motor Vehicles, Parts and Accessories.
- (b) Acceptance and Acknowledgments by Dealer

Dealer hereby accepts from Buick the Franchise and Related Rights and, in doing so, acknowledges that:

- (1) General Motors and its subsidiaries have reserved to themselves the right and freedom to franchise entities they have selected and approved to conduct dealership operations in connection with the products they market and to contract with such entities in connection therewith;
- (2) Buick has not conferred upon Dealer or its management or owners the right to grant, transfer, assign or sell the Franchise and Related Rights or this Agreement to any third party, whether separately or in connection with any sale of the assets of or ownership interests in Dealer, and neither the Franchise and Related Rights nor this Agreement are transferable, assignable or salable by Dealer;
- (3) No franchise fee or monetary consideration has been paid by Dealer to Buick for the Franchise and Related Rights or this Agreement and no property right or interest, direct or indirect, therein is sold, conveyed or transferred to Dealer under this Agreement; and
- (4) The Franchise and Related Rights are of value and benefit to Dealer only as they relate directly, and they are applicable solely, to Dealer's conduct of the Dealership Operations while this Agreement shall continue in effect in accordance with its provisions; they have no separate, intrinsic value to Dealer apart from their application to the conduct by Dealer of the Dealership Operations; and, upon any attempted sale, transfer, or assignment thereof by Dealer, they will cease to have any value to Dealer and shall have no value or applicability to any purported purchaser, transferee or assignee thereof.

SECOND: Assumption of Responsibilities by Dealer

In consideration of the grant to Dealer of the Franchise and Related Rights and subject to the other conditions and provisions of this Agreement, Dealer hereby (a) undertakes to establish and maintain complete Dealership Operations in accordance with the provisions of Section A of Article III of this Agreement, and (b) assumes, in connection therewith

- (1) Responsibility for establishing and maintaining, at the Dealership Locations, Dealership Premises in accordance with the provisions of Section B of Article III of this Agreement;
- (2) Responsibility for actively and effectively selling at retail and promoting the purchase and use of new Motor Vehicles in accordance with the provisions of Section C of Article III of this Agreement; and
- (3) Responsibility for servicing Motor Vehicles in accordance with the provisions of Section D of Article III of this Agreement.

Dealer acknowledges that Buick has selected Dealer as a Franchised Buick Dealer and has granted it the Franchise and Related Rights in reliance upon the undertaking of Dealer, and not of any third party or parties, to fulfill the responsibilities herein described and that, therefore, Dealer may not transfer, assign or delegate any such responsibilities to any third party or parties.

(Fill in "Yes" or "No" under both

THIRD: Management and Ownership

(a) Reliance of Buick upon Dealer, Dealer Operator(s) and Dealer Owner(s)

Buick has selected Dealer as a Franchised Buick Dealer, has granted Dealer the Franchise and Related Rights and has entered into this Agreement

- (1) based on Dealer's representations to Buick relating to its business organization and financial structure and its capability and willingness to fulfill the responsibilities assumed by Dealer under Paragraph SECOND of this Agreement; and
 - (2) in reliance upon the agreement of Buick and Dealer that:
 - (i) the following named person(s) shall be, as indicated opposite their respective name(s), the Dealer Operator(s) of Dealer and/or the Dealer Owner(s) of Dealer for purposes of this Agreement:

	columns as	applicable)
Name	Dealer Owner	Dealer Operator
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

- (ii) the Dealer Operator(s) shall have and will actively exercise, in the management positions for each described in the Management and Ownership Addendum, full managerial authority for the operating management of Dealer, and
- (iii) the Dealer Owner(s) will each continue to own, both of record and beneficially, the percentage of the ownership interests in Dealer shown in the Management and Ownership Addendum, and the only other person(s) that will have any record or beneficial ownership interests in Dealer shall be the person(s) who have been approved by Buick for such ownership and who are named as Other Owner(s), together with their respective percentage of ownership interests in Dealer, in the Management and Ownership Addendum.

Buick and Dealer will execute, as of the effective date of this Agreement, a Management and Ownership Addendum, on a form furnished by Buick, which shall set forth the information hereinabove specified.

(b) Continuation of Agreement Conditioned Upon

It follows from the provisions set forth in subparagraph (a)(2) above that this Agreement shall be construed as being in the nature of a personal service agreement. Dealer acknowledges and agrees that, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Dealer may continue to enjoy the benefits to be derived from the Franchise and Related Rights only so long as Dealer is, and continuation of the business relations between Buick and Dealer established by this Agreement are conditioned upon Dealer being, managed and owned as provided herein.

(c) Changes Agreed Upon by Dealer and Buick

Dealer shall give Buick prior written notice of any change it desires to make in the management or ownership of Dealer as reflected in the Management and Ownership Addendum. Any such change that may be agreed upon by Buick and Dealer shall be reflected only by the execution by Buick and Dealer of a new and superseding Management and Ownership Addendum and, if there is a change in any Dealer Operator or Dealer Owner, by the execution of a new and superseding Dealer Sales and Service Agreement or an appropriate amendment of subparagraph (a)(2)(i) of this Paragraph THIRD.

FOURTH: Additional Provisions

The additional provisions set forth in the attached "Additional Provisions Applicable To Dealer Sales and Service Agreement," bearing Form No. S-451-75, are hereby made a part of this Agreement with the same force and effect as if set forth at length herein.

Dealer acknowledges, in connection therewith, that the provisions of Section C entitled "Termination Assistance Relating to Eligible Items of Personal Property," of Section D entitled "Termination Assistance Relating to Dealership Premises," and of Section E entitled "Establishment of Successor Dealer Proposed by Remaining and/or Proposed Dealer Operators" of Article IV of this Agreement are included by Buick in such Additional Provisions because Buick, in the exercise of its rights relating thereto, has selected and approved Dealer as a Franchised Buick Dealer.

FIFTH: Term

This Agreement shall have a term commencing on the effective date hereof and, subject to its earlier termination in accordance with the provisions of Article IV of this Agreement, expiring on Subject to other applicable provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement shall automatically terminate at the end of such stipulated term without any action by either Dealer or Buick.

SIXTH: License of Dealer

If Dealer is required to secure a license for the conduct of the Dealership Operations in any state or jurisdiction where the Dealership Operations are to be conducted, this Agreement will not be valid until and unless Dealer shall have furnished Buick with written notice specifying the date and the number, if any, of such license issued to Dealer. Dealer shall notify Buick immediately in writing if Dealer shall fail to secure or maintain such license or a renewal thereof or if such license is suspended or revoked, specifying the effective date of any such suspension or revocation.

SEVENTH: Execution on Behalf of Buick and Dealer

Neither this Agreement nor any Addendum thereto shall be valid until and unless it bears the signature or facsimile signature of the General Sales Manager and, when space for countersignature is provided for thereon, is countersigned by either an Assistant General Sales Manager, a Regional Manager or a Zone Manager of Buick Motor Division, General Motors Corporation, provided, however, that if Dealer has been notified that another Division of General Motors will have responsibility for administering any provision of this Agreement that requires the execution of an Addendum to this Agreement, such Addendum when so executed by such other Division shall be deemed to have been executed on behalf of Buick and to be a part of this Agreement; nor shall this Agreement or any Addendum thereto required to be executed by Dealer be valid until and unless it is signed on behalf of Dealer by one or more duly authorized officers of Dealer if Dealer is a corporation, or by one or more general partners of Dealer if Dealer is a partnership, or by Dealer if Dealer is a proprietorship.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement in triplicate as of the day and year first above written.

	Dealer Firm Name	GENER	GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION Buick Motor Division	
Ву		\mathcal{Q}	$\lambda \mathcal{Q}$	
·	Signature and Title	By C.	D. Buger General Sales Manager	
Ву			General Sales Manager	
	Signature and Title			
		Ву		
Witness:			Manager	

B I B L I O G R A P H Y

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Biggs, Sheridan C., Jr. "Survival of the Smallest or How a Small Business Can Reach the Other End of the 1970's," in The Dynamic Small Firm, edited by Ernest W. Walker. Austin, Tex.: Austin, Press, 1975.
- Dalton, Gene W.; Lawrence. Paul R.; and Lorsch, Jay W. Organizational Structure and Design. Homewood, Ill.: Richard W. Irwin, Inc. and the Dorsey Press, 1970.
- Dible, Donald M. <u>Up Your Own Organization</u>: Santa Clara, Calif.: The Entrepreneur Press, 1974.
- Diener, Royce. <u>How to Finance a Growing Business</u>. New York: Frederick Fell Publishers, Inc., 1974.
- Dopuch, Nicholas, and Birnberg, Jacob G. <u>Cost Accounting</u>:

 <u>Accounting Data for Management's Decisions</u>.

 New York: Harcourt, Brace, & World, 1969.
- Galbraith, Jay. <u>Designing Complex Organizations</u>. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley, 1973.
- Gilmore, Frank F. "Formulating Strategy in the Small Business," in <u>The Dynamic Small Firm</u>, edited by Ernest W. Walker. Austin, Tex.: Austin Press, 1975.
- Golde, Roger A. "Practical Planning for Small Business," in <u>The Dynamic Small Firm</u>, edited by Ernest W. Walker. Austin, Tex.: Austin Press, 1975.
- Green, Paul E., and Tull, Donald S. Research for Marketing Decisions. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1975.
- Kotler, Philip. Marketing Management: Analysis, Management, and Control. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1972.

- Sommerfeld, Ray M. Federal Taxes and Management Decisions. Homewood, Ill.: Richard D. Irwin, 1974.
- Sommerfeld, Ray M.; Anderson, Hershel M.; and Brock, Horace R. An Introduction to Taxation. New York: Harcourt, Brace, Jovanich, 1972.
- Stroud, William M. "Section 1244 Stock: A No-Cost Insurance Policy Against Failure of a Corporation," in <u>The Dynamic Small Firm</u>, edited by Ernest W. Walker. Austin, Tex.: Austin Press, 1975.
- Stanford, Melvin J. New Enterprise Management. Provo, Utah: Brigham Young University Press, 1975.
- Thompson, Arthur A., Jr. Economics of the Firm: Theory and Practice. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1973.
- Walker, Ernest W. Essentials of Financial Management.
 Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1971.
- Walker, Ernest W. "Investment and Capital Structure Decision Making in Small Business," in <u>The Dynamic Small Firm</u>, edited by Ernest W. Walker. Austin, Tex.:

 Austin Press. 1975.

Pamphlets

- General Motors Corporation. <u>Dealerships and New Opportunities</u>. Flint, Mich.: General Motors, 1974.
- General Motors Corporation. Motors Holding Division: Investment Plan. Flint, Mich.: General Motors, 1966.

Martha Ann Zivley typing service

2707 HEMPHILL PARK • AUSTIN. TEXAS 78705 • AC 512 472-3210